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Elena Saenkova

A TWO-SIDED NOVGORODIAN ICON “OUR LADY OF THE SIGN
AND MARTYR JULIANA” OF THE FIRST THIRD OF THE 13tH
CENTURY: ASPECTS OF THE ICONOGRAPHIC PROGRAMME

270 dpBoo eEetdletal amo eLXOVOYQOEPLKT KAl LOTOQL-
x1] dmwoyn uia au@iyoantn ewxove s ITivaxonxng
Toetiaxop, oty omoia amsixovicetar n Iavayia tov
Snueiov ( Bhayeovitiooa) xat 1 ayic lovAiavi ue dyLes
ota weptipoia. To mpoTumo TS mapdotaons tne Oc-
0TOXOV [0WS EiVaL 1 AATOEVTIXT ELXOVA TNG EXKANCIOS
twv Blayeovav otnv KwvotavtivovumoAn. ITibavotata
TOOXELTAL YL EQYO TTOV TAQNYYELAE O CQYLETIOXROTOS
NoOByxopovt Avidviog, 0 0m0oi0g €iye EmLOXEQOE] TNV
KwvotavuivovmoAn. To 1218 éxtioe uio TETOIVY EXXAN-
oia otn uovn s Ayias BagBdoag, yia tnv omoia gai-
vetat 0Tt mpoopitlotav n etxova.

A€Eerg nAherdra

130¢ atwvag, mowwn owotxy Cwyoapixn, auEiyoamrTtes €t-
xoveg, Iavayio Blaysovitiooa, ayia Ioviiavi] n udotvg, un-
toomoAitns Nopyropovt Avtawvios, Nofyxopovt.

I n the collections of the State Tretyakov Gallery there
is a two-sided icon “Our Lady of the Sign and Martyr
Juliana” (Figs 1, 2), which was bequeathed to the mu-
seum by the artist Pavel Korin along with his collection
of icons and paintings'. P. Korin had purchased this
icon from the famous art historian Alexander Anisi-
mov, who reportedly acquired it from Zverin Convent in
Novgorod® The icon was restored by I. Baranov in the
1940s. In 2015 it underwent technical and technological

* Historian of Art, PhD, The State Tretyakov Gallery, Head of the
Medieval Russian Art Department, elsaen@mail.ru

! The icon came into the museum collection in 1967. Registration
number: 2440. Dimensions: 75,5x64x2,8 cm.

2 K. Onasch, Ikonen, Berlin 1961, 352-353. V. I. Antonova, Drev-
nerusskoe iskusstvo v sobranii Pavia Korina, Moscow 1966, 25.
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A two-sided icon, now in the Tretyakov Gallery, depi-
cting the Virgin of the Sign (Blachernitissa) and St Ju-
liana, with the representations of saint women on the
margins is examined on iconographic and historical
grounds. The model for the image of the Mother of
God could have been the icon venerated in the Con-
stantinopolitan church of Blachernae. It was probably
commissioned by the archbishop of Novgorod Antho-
ny, who had visited Constantinople. In 1218 he built
a stone church in the convent of Saint Barbara, for
which this icon was presumably intended.

Keywords

13th century; early Russian painting; two-sided icons; Our
Lady of the Sign; Virgin Blachernitissa; St Juliana the mar-
tyr; Anthony, archbishop of Novgorod; Novgorod.

analysis by S. Sverdlova and D. Pershin at the State Tre-
tyakov Gallery?>.

On the front side of the icon, on gold ground is depicted
the image of the Mother of God orans with the Christ
Child on her chest, set also agianst the gold ground
within a medallion (Fig. 1). The Virgin Mary (Theot-
okos) wears a green tunic and a cerise maphorion. Her
garments and those of the Christ Child are lavishly dec-
orated not only with painted motifs but also with other
techniques. The embroidered cuffs (epimanikia) and the
golden border of the maphorion of the Virgin, as well as

3 Drevnerusskaya zhivopis® XII — XIII vekov: Gosudarstvennaya
Tretyakovskaja galereya. Katalog sobrania (Early Russian painting
of the 12th to 13th centuries: State Tretyakov gallery, catalogue of
the collection) (in Russian), 3, Moscow 2020, no. 11 on p. 332-336.
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Fig. 1. Moscow, The State Tretyakov Gallery. Front side of the two-sided icon. Our Lady of the Sign, first third of the 13th century
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Fig. 2. Moscow, The State Tretyakov Gallery. Reverse side of the two-sided icon. Martyr Juliana,
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Fig. 3. Saint Alexandra on the upper margin of the icon’s front side, detail (see Fig. 1).

Christ’s attire are adorned with the chased ornament,
consisting of dots on intersecting lines*. The nimbus of
the Mother of God is flanked by two medallions. In the
left one is the monogram “M[P] ©®Y”; no inscription is
preserved in the right one. Christ is represented against
the gold ground, holding a red scroll in his hand. Me-
dallions on either side of his image display the letters
“IC XC”.

On the upper margin of the front side of the icon
there are three half-length figures of female saints. The
central image of a saint in a green maphorion is that of
St Alexandra, according to the partially preserved in-
scription: [AAEZA|N/[PA [AT'H]A (Alexandra Hagia)
(Fig. 3). This image is in better condition than the other

* A. S. Preobrazhenskii, “Chekannyi ornamental’nyi dekor novgo-
rodskikh icon XV veka”, Trudy Central’nogo muzeya drevnerusskoj
kul’tury i iskusstva imeni Andreya Rubleva, 7. Putem ornamenta:
issledovania po iskusstvu vizantiyskogo mira (“Punched Ornamen-
tal Decoration of 15th Century Icons of Novgorod”) (in Russian,
abstracts in English), ed. A. L. Saminskii, Moscow 2013, 100.
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two half-length figures, as most of the details have sur-
vived. To her left is the image of a saint martyr in a
red maphorion, without an inscribed name, and to her
right only a fragment of the figure survives. In the space
between St Alexandra and the saint martyr in red is a
section of a green circle; possibly it was a pictorial imi-
tation of decorative circles represented on gold and silver
grounds of Byzantine icons. On the right margin, two
full-length figures remain: a saint hierarch and a young
warrior or one of the Russian princes, St Boris or St
Gleb>.

5 Sts Boris and Gleb (990s (?) — 1015), Prince Vladimir’s sons, be-
came the first martyrs to be canonized in Kievan Rus after being
assassinated by their elder brother Sviatopolk who struggled for
power. It is noteworthy that Anthony the Archbishop of Novgorod
who visited Constantinople in the early 13th century, saw an icon
of Sts Boris and Gleb in Saint Sophia. See: A. Jouravel, Die Kniga
palomnik des Antonij von Novgorod. Edition, Ubersetzung, Kom-
mentar (Imagines Medii Aevi. Interdisziplinire Beitrige zur Mit-
telalterforschung 47), Wiesbaden 2019, 200, 328.
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Fig. 4. Saint Barbara on the left margin of the icon’s

reverse side, detail (see Fig. 2).
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Fig. 5. Saint Barbara, detail (see Fig. 2). Photograph in the
infrared spectrum (1100 nm).

Depicted on the back of the icon is Saint Juliana the
martyr with the cross in her hand, set against the red
ground (Fig. 2). On either side of her figure are medal-
lions with the inscriptions “V/IEANA” (“Uleana”) to her
right, and “M(y)[{EHHUI]A” (“Martyr”) to her left. The
inscriptions below the medallions read “MYI[EHHUI]A
X(c)BA” (“Martyr of Christ”) and “AT'MA” (“Hagia”) re-
spectively. These inscriptions are contemporaneous with
those of the medallions above and, in a way, duplicate
their meaning, which is quite rare, if not unique, for
Early Russian icon painting. The martyr is represent-
ed wearing richly decorated garments. Her veil is em-
bellished with three ornamented and pearl-embroidered
circles; the one on the front with a rosette and in the two
others with a cruciform (x) design and little circles; two
larger rosettes are sewn on the shoulders of the mantle.
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Fig. 6. The State Tretyakov Gallery. Face of the Holy Virgin (detail of the Fig. 1).

AXAE MB’ (2021), 239-258
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Fig. 7. The State Tretyakov Gallery. Face of St. Martyr Juliana (detail of the Fig. 2).
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The sleeves of the blue tunic have cuffs (epimanikia) dec-
orated with embroidery, red jewels and pearls, each epima-
nikion with its own pattern.

On the side margins, which were initially white, there
are three pairs of full-length figures. The upper pair
(inscriptions are lost) is traditionally identified as the
Saint Healers, because the objects in their hands bring
to mind small medicine chests. The middle pair is iden-
tified by the fragmentary inscriptions as St Barbara the
Great Martyr (“BPOBAPA”) to the left (Figs 4, 5), and St
Timothy the Apostle (“T[H]MO[DEI]”) to the right. The
lower pair of figures are St Nicholas the Miracle-Worker
(“[HH]KOJIA”) on the left and an unidentified saint on
the right (with no inscription).

Iconography and iconographic programme

The technical and technological analysis confirmed that
both sides of the icon, including the margins with the
images of the saints, were painted at the same time by
the same master, although the painting’s state of preser-
vation gives us a slightly different impression. The image
on the front side, with the gold ground, is more majestic
and solemn in appearance (Fig. 6). The one on the back
side is no less expressive (Fig. 7), but the design is some-
what simpler and the gold is replaced with vermillion on
the background and with orpiment in the decoration of
the martyr’s robes. The images of the Mother of God and
of the Martyr Juliana have been painted with the use of
identical materials and techniques.

According to the hypothesis proposed in earlier ar-
ticles about the icon, the image on the front side might
have been the first copy of the miraculous Novgorod
icon of Our Lady of the Sign, dated in 1130-1140 (Fig.
8)°. However, these two depictions have several essential
differences which lead us to conclude that the master
used another model. First and foremost is the size of the
medallion with the Christ Child, which in the icon un-
der discussion is much smaller and outlined with a wide
dark band, which differentiates it from the traditional
iconography of Our Lady of the Incarnation. Moreover,

¢ Iconi Velikogo Novgoroda XI — nachala XVI veka (Novgorod
the Great Icons of 11th — early 16th centuries) (in Russian), Mos-
cow 2008, no. 3 on p. 8§9-99.
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the monogram of Christ is inscribed in two small circles
on either side of his nimbus, and not on the ground of
the medallion. The garments of Christ are also different:
he wears a royal dalmatic with a scapular and two clavi,
whereas in the miraculous image he is dressed in the tra-
ditional chiton and himation. However, the most notable
peculiarity of the icon from the collection of the State
Tretyakov Gallery is the original system of the drapery
on the garments of the Virgin.

There is substantial literature on the iconography of
the orant Mother of God with the Infant Christ on her
chest (at the centre of her bosom), conventionally called
“Our Lady of the Incarnation”. Accurately dated imag-
es of this type appeared on Byzantine seals and coins,
starting from the mid-11th century — the seal of Empress
Eudokia Makrembolitissa of 1059-1067%, the nomisma
(gold histamenon) of the co-empresses Zoe and Theodora
of 1042° etc. Later, this iconographic type became wide-
spread in both half- and full-length variants on coins and
seals, and then in monumental painting and icon-painting.

Art historians, such as N. P. Kondakov, M. Tati¢-Djuric,
and E. S. Smirnova, are almost unanimous in their opin-
ion that the aforesaid iconography can be traced back to
the sacred images of Constantinople’s Blachernae church

7 N. P. Kondakov, Iconografiya Bogomateri, 2, Moscow 1915, 108-
113. M. Tatié-Djurié, “Vrata slova: Ka liku i znachenju Vlaherniti-
se”, ZLU 8 (1972), 63-89. M. Tati¢-Djuri¢, “L’icone de la Vierge du
Signe”, ZLU 13(1977), 3-26. H. Hunger, “Heimsuchung und Schirm-
herrschaft iiber Welt und Menschheit: Mo ©eo® 1) "Enioxeyic”,
Studies in Byzantine sigillography, 4, ed. N. Oikonomides, Washing-
ton, D. C. 1995, 33-42. E. S. Smirnova, “Novgorodskaya icona ‘Bo-
gomater Znamenie”: nekotorye voprosy bogorodichnoji iconografii
XII veka” (“The Novgorodian Icon of the ‘Znamenie’: Some Problems
of the Iconography of the Virgin in 12th Century”), Drevnerusskoe
iskusstvo: Balkani, Rus’, Saint Petersburg 1995, 290, 292, 296 (in
Russian, abstracts in English). E. S. Smirnova, “Some Contributions
to the Iconography of the Blachernitissa (The Study of the Two
Russian Icons of the 12th-13th Centuries)”, Aauandav. Agitéomua
oty uviun s Ntovdas Movoixn, 2, AByva 2003, 203-210, etc.
8 G. Zacos — A. Veglery, Byzantine Lead Seals, 1, Basel 1972, nos
89, 80.

° The Glory of Byzantium: Art and Culture of the Middle Byzantine
era. A.D. 843-1261 (exhibition catalogue), eds H. C. Evans — W.
D. Wixom, New York 1997, no. 147G on p. 213-217. V. Penna, “The
Mother of God on Coins and Lead Seals”, Mother of God. Repre-
sentations of the Virgin in Byzantine Art (exhibition catalogue),
ed. M. Vassilaki, Athens — Milan 2000, 211, fig. 146.
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but they fail to agree on its prototype or prototypes.
Bearing in mind that such depictions of the Theotokos
on coins and seals were often accompanied by the epi-
thet “Episkepsis”, some historians presume that a now-
lost revered image of that name might have served as a
model to emulate!'.

According to another version, the new iconography
was elaborated not earlier than the middle of the 11th
century and was based on specific venerated images of
the Blachernae church: a marble relief representing the
Virgin Orans, with special holes in the palms for the holy
water of the miracle-working spring, and an ancient icon
of the Virgin Nikopoia, found in the Blachernae in 1030-
1031, The iconography of Our Lady of the Incarnation
preserved semantic ties with both prototypes: the hands
raised in prayer allude to the intercession of the Theotokos
for all Mankind before the Righteous Judge at the Last
Judgement, while the triumphal image of the incarnated
Saviour on her chest implied the possibility of praying
before this image for victory over enemies, since even be-
fore Iconoclasm the Nikopoia icon was taken on military
campaigns. However, all these nuances only enriched the
meaning of the new iconographic type, which was intend-
ed to givea visual expression of the doctrine of the Incarna-
tion of the Eternal Logos (Word) from the Virgin Mary'2

One of the most concise yet comprehensive word-
ings of this dogma already appeared in the prophecy of
Isaiah (7:14), quoted in the Gospel of Matthew (1:23):
“Therefore the Lord Himself will give you a sign: Behold,
a virgin shall conceive and bear a Son, and shall call His
name Immanuel”. This text was cited by Basil of Cae-
sarea, Gregory of Nazianzus, John Chrysostom, Cyril of
Alexandria, and other Holy Fathers in their discussions
of the birth of the Saviour and his redemptive mission,
as well as by the authors of liturgical hymns praising the
Logos which descended “into the womb of the Virgin”

101, Zervou Tognazzi, “L’iconografia e la ‘Vita’ delle miracolose ico-
ne della Theotokos Brefokratoussa: Blachernitissa e Odighitria”,
Bollettino della Badia Greca di Grottaferrata 40 (1986), 274-275.
H. Hunger, “Mytno @eo® 1) 'Enioxreyic”, op.cit. (n. 7), 33-42. O. E.
Etinhof, Vizantiyskie icony VI — pervoi poloviny XIII veka v Ros-
sii (Byzantine icons of 6th — first half of 11th century in Russia),
Moscow 2000, 138-139.

' Smirnova, “The Novgorodian Icon of the ‘Znamenie
(n. 7), 290.

12 Tatié-Djurié, “L’icone de la Vierge du Signe”, op.cit. (n. 7), 3.

29

, op.cit.

AXAE MB’ (2021), 239-258

for the Salvation of Mankind, and the Virgin herself:
“Since it was Thy will, O Saviour, to bestow upon us
salvation, Thou didst take up Thy dwelling within the
Virgin’s womb, and didst show her to be the protectress
of the world...”: Theotokion of the 7th ode of the can-
on (the 8th echos) composed by St John of Damascus.
There is an inscription with similar meaning on the Si-
nai icon “Our Lady of Blachernae (Blachernitissa) with
the Prophet Moses and Patriarch Euthymios II of Jeru-
salem”, painted by the master Peter in around 1223%,
Since the late 11th — early 12th century, the icono-
graphic type of Our Lady of the Incarnation has been
used in the decoration of the sanctuary apses, the sub-
ject of which is the Eucharistic Sacrifice. Such examples
are encountered on Cyprus, in the Panagia Theotokos
church at Trikomo!*, dated to the early 12th century, and
the church of the Holy Apostles at Pera Chorio, of 1160-
1180%. In Russian art it is found in the main apse and
the prothesis of the church of the Saviour on Nereditsa,
of 1199 (both full- and half-length images)'®. The pres-
ence of two images of Our Lady of the Incarnation in the
altar-space of the Nereditsa church clearly demonstrates
the variety of additional meanings that this iconograph-
ic type could acquire in various contexts (Fig. 9). Thus,
according to N. Pivovarova, the half-length image in the
sanctuary corresponded to the office of Proskomide, as a
reminder of the removal of the Lamb from the Prosphora'’.
Depictions of Our Lady of the Sign, introduced into
new iconographic programmes, also corresponded to
the composition of the Liturgy of the Church Fathers in
the lower zone of wall-paintings in the sanctuary, where
the holy hierarchs sacrificed the Infant Christ, incarnat-
ed from the Virgin Mary. The meaning of this iconogra-
phy in the decoration programme of the sanctuary apse

'3 Holy Image, Hallowed Ground: Icons from Sinai (exhibition
catalogue), eds R. S. Nelson — K. M. Collins, Los Angeles 2007, no.
53 on p. 258-261 (G. R. Parpulov).

14 K. Kalokyris, ‘H Ogotox0¢ €ic TV €ixovoyoagpiav AvatoAiis
xal Avoewg, Thessaloniki 1972, pl. 23.

5 A. H. S. Megaw — E. J. W. Hawkins, “The Church of the Holy
Apostles at Perachorio, Cyprus, and its Frescoes”, DOP 16 (1962),
287-288, fig. 12.

1 N. Pivovarova, Freski tserkvi Spasa na Nereditse v Novgorode:
iconograficheskaya programma rospisi, Saint Petersburg 2002, 28,
pls 11, 15.

17 Tbid., 28.
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Fig. 8. Novgorod, Saint Sophia Cathedral. Front side of the two-sided icon. Our Lady of the Sign. 1130s-1140s, with later over-
painting.

248 AXAE MB’ (2021), 239-258
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Fig. 9. Nereditsa, the church of the Saviour. The Mother of God of the

Incarnation, 1199.

was proved by the fact that in the course of renovating
the wall-paintings iconographers sometimes replaced
the earlier image with the depiction of Our Lady of the
Incarnation. Such a replacement was made, for example,
in the church of Saint George Diasoritis on Naxos, paint-
ed in the mid-11th century. The image of the Mother of
God Hodegetria was substituted for the depiction of Our
Lady of the Incarnation in the 12th century'®.

Such images of the Theotokos were also placed above

8 M. Acheimastou-Potamianou, Ayiog I'e@oytog o Aiacooitng
¢ NaSov. Ot towyoyoapies tov 11ov atwva, Athens 2016, 24,
32, pl. 4.

AXAE MB’ (2021), 239-258

the church entrance, demonstrating their protective func-
tion, as in the church of the Panagia Forviotissa, Cyprus,
painted in 1105/6". Obviously, the relief images of Our
Lady of the Sign, decorating the church walls, had the
same function. Among them is an early 13th-century
marble panel, brought from Constantinople to Venice
and incorporated into the wall of the church of Santa
Maria Mater Domini?’, as well as the relief in the exterior

19 Ch. Hadjichristodoulou — D. Myrianthefs, The Church of Our
Lady of Asinou, Nicosia 2002, 7.

20 K. Loverdou-Tsigarida, “The Mother of God in Sculpture”, Mother
of God. Representations of the Virgin in Byzantine Art (exhibition
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Fig. 10. Yuryev-Polsky, Saint George cathedral. The Mother of God of the Incarnation,
relief, ca. 1230-1234.

sculptural decoration of Saint George Cathedral in Yur-
yev-Polsky, built ca. 1230-1234 (Fig. 10).

The Eucharistic interpretation of the new iconogra-
phy is confirmed by the use of such images for decorating
panagiaria in the Athonite monasteries of Chilandar and
Xeropotamou. The panagiarion from Chilandar mon-
astery, dated to between the 10th and the 12th century,
presents the half-length image of the Theotokos with the
Infant Christ on her chest without a medallion, and the

catalogue), ed. M. Vassilaki, Athens — Milan 2000, 241, fig. 189.
21 G. K. Vagner, Mastera drevnerusskoj ckul’ptury. Rel’efy Jurie-
va-Pol’ckogo, Moscow 1966, pl. 49.

250

panagiarion known as “the Pulcheria Paten” from the Xe-
ropotamou monastery, dated to the 14th century, carries
the full-length image of Our Lady of the Sign. Inscrip-
tions on the panagiaria, which were also used as patens
during the Liturgy, reveal the role of the Theotokos in
the Salvation of Mankind. The Mother of God depicted
on the Chilandar panagiarion is symbolically associat-
ed with the altar, which became a place for the Divine
Bread: 'TETONEN H KOIAIA X0OY AI'TA TPAIIEZA
EXOYXA TQN OYPANION APT(O)N... (Thy womb is
become a holy table which holdeth the Heavenly Bread)?

2 Treasures of Mount Athos (exhibition catalogue), managing ed.

AXAE MB’ (2021), 239-258
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Moreover, there is a rare example of the full-length image
of Our Lady of the Incarnation on the aér (1216) from
the church of Saint Sophia in Sofia, with a dedicatory
inscription: O CAPKA AABQN E= AIIEIPANAPOY
KOPHC + TPOIIOIC APPACTOIC Q &(EO)Y II(A)
TP(O)C AOTE / + HN NYN OPQMHN ANGOPO-
IOIC II|POKEIMENHN + EIC ECTIACIN KAN
ITACI TTAP AZIAN... (Oh Thou, Logos of God the Fa-
ther, Who tookest the Heavenly Flesh from the Holy Vir-
gin, so now we see this Divine Body prepared for eating
by all of men, though nobody [of us] is worthy of receiv-
ing It...) (The National History Museum in Sofia)?.

The icon-painting tradition also included images of
Our Lady of the Incarnation in the full- and half-length
variants. The two earliest surviving examples of the full-
length type are the Sinai icon “Our Lady of Blachernae
(Blachernitissa) with the Prophet Moses and Patriarch
Euthymios II of Jerusalem”, painted by the master Peter
(ca. 1223/24), and “The Virgin Mary Great Panagia” from
the Monastery of the Transfiguration of the Saviour in
Yaroslavl in around 1224 (Tretyakov Gallery, Fig. 11)*.
The half-length depictions, used as the orant images,
were more common; for example, there is the miracu-
lous Novgorod icon “Our Lady of the Sign” dated to the
third or fourth decade of the 12th century®, “The Virgin
Blachernitissa” from the Monastery of Saint Catherine on
Sinai, dated by D. Mouriki to the last quarter of the 13th
century?, the icon from the Phaneromeni church in Nic-
osia?” and the icon from the church of the Holy Cross in
Aska, Cyprus, probably painted in the 13th century (Mu-
seum of the Metropolis of Tamasou and Orinis)?.

Slight differences between these earliest images, both

A. A. Karakatsanis, Thessaloniki 1997, cat. no. and fig. 9.8 on p.
329-330 (K. Loverdou-Tsigarida); the Poulcheria paten: ibid., cat.
no. and fig. 9.5 on p. 317, 324-325 (K. Loverdou-Tsigarida).

2 Hristianskoe ikusstvo Bolgarii (exhibition catalogue), Moscow
2018, no. 11 on p. 44-45.

2 Drevnerusskaya zhivopis’ XII — XIII vekov, op.cit. (n. 3), no. 15
on p. 430-459.

% Iconi Velikogo Novgoroda, op.cit. (n. 6), no. 3 on p. 89-99.

2 Swva: Oi Onoavool tijs T. Moviig Aylac Aixatepivng, gen. ed. C.
Manafis, Athens 1990, 117-118, fig. 61.

27 Maniera Cypria. The Cypriot painting of the 13th century be-
tween two worlds (exhibition catalogue), ed. I. A. Eliades, Nicosia
2017, 92, fig. 36.

2 Tbid., 88, fig. 23.
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in full- and half-length variants, concern predominantly
the position of the medallion with Christ in the folds of
the garments of the Holy Virgin, the design of her ma-
phorion, the type of attire and attributes of the Christ
Child. On the basis of the position of the medallion, these
depictions can be divided into two groups. One group
comprises mainly full-length images that maintain their
genetic relation to the Orans iconography, where the
medallion with the Christ Child on the chest of the Vir-
gin Mary is represented as a flat disc placed on top of
the draped garments, as can be seen, for example, in the
wall-paintings in Nereditsa, in Trikomo, Pera Chorio,
Asinou and the church of Saint Themonianos in Lysi,
Cyprus, dated to the middle of the 13th century?®, as well
as in the Sinai icons and reliefs. The other group includes
images in which the maphorion seems to be adapted to
accommodate the medallion with the Infant Christ: the
wide folds of the maphorion are draped in such a way
that the medallion appears to stand on its horizontal
bordered edge, as in the Novgorod miraculous icon and
in the panagiarion of Xeropotamou monastery. The
icon discussed here belongs to this group. The Infant
Christ is traditionally depicted wearing a chiton and hi-
mation, the edge of which hangs over the right shoulder;
less frequently the Child is robed in a chiton or dalmat-
ic, decorated with the scapular and two clavi, as in the
mural painting at Trikomo on Cyprus and in the icons
of Sinai Monastery and the Monastery of the Transfig-
uration of the Saviour at Yaroslavl. In the Yaroslavl icon
Christ blesses with both hands, a gesture presumably
connected with the particular liturgical programme.

The described iconographic type is known in the aca-
demic literature by several names: “Blachernitissa”
(“Our Lady of Blachernae”), “The Virgin Mary Great Pa-
nagia”, “Our Lady of the Sign”, “Our Lady of the Incar-
nation”, etc.. The same image in the Byzantine tradi-
tion is predominantly named as “Blachernitissa” (BAa-
xeovitiooa)®', known from the seals of the Byzantine

2 A. Weyl Carr — L. J. Morrocco, A Byzantine Masterpiece Recov-
ered, the Thirteenth-Century Murals of Lysi, Cyprus, Austin, TX
1991, 43-47, pl. 1.4, fig. 14.

3 Tati¢-Djuri¢, “L’icone de la Vierge du Signe”, op.cit. (n. 7), 3-27.
31 On the basis of the surviving works of art, the name “Blacher-
nitissa” seems to have accompanied images of the Mother of God
belonging to various iconographic types, which were connected
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Fig. 11. Moscow, the State Tretyakov Gallery. Icon from the Monastery of
the Transfiguration of the Saviour in Yaroslavl. The Mother of God of the
Incarnation or the Great Panagia, ca. 1224.

emperors®?, “The Virgin Mary Great Panagia” (H MeydAn
Iavayia or H [MTavayia). In mural painting such images
are sometimes accompanied by epithets borrowed from

with the veneration of several images of the Virgin Mary in the
Blachernae church. See: Zervou Tognazzi, “L’iconografia”, op.cit.
(n. 10), 270-271. Etinhof, Vizantiyskie icony, op.cit. (n. 10), 132.

V. S. Shandrovskaya, “Pechati i monety vizantiyskikh imperatorov s
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the liturgical texts (for example, in the sanctuary apse of
the Panagia church at Trikomo, Cyprus, there is a whole
line which paraphrases the verses of Stanza 2 from the
Akathistos Hymn to the Theotokos®), as well as by

izobrazheniem Bogomateri”, Vizantiyskij viemennik 58 (1999), 94-211.
3 A. Stylianou — J. A. Stylianou, The painted churches of Cyprus:
Treasures of Byzantine art, Nicosia 1997, 488.
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toponymic epithets (e.g., “Forviotissa” in the fresco with
a half-length figure of the Virgin Mary from the church
of Panagia Forviotissa at Asinou, Cyprus).

The earliest icons of Our Lady of the Incarnation, both
full- and half-length types, have no inscriptions — perhaps
there were inscriptions originally, but were later lost. How-
ever, the iconographic affinity with works in decorative
and applied arts, sphragistics and numismatics, enabled
historians to publish some of them with borrowed names:
for example, the icon from the Monastery of the Transfigu-
ration of the Saviour at Yaroslavl — with the epithet “Great
Panagia” (Fig. 11), two icons from the Sinai collection —
as “Blachernitissa”, while the Russian icons with the half-
length images were given the name “Our Lady of the Sign”,
which they inherited from the venerated Novgorod icon.

Unfortunately, we do not know the original name of
the icon which was glorified in Novgorod in about 1170,
during the military conflict with Suzdal, and went down
in history as “Our Lady of the Sign”*. Although histo-
rians tend to consider that the cult of this icon as the
palladium of Novgorod had already existed by the 13th
century, its name appeared in menologia, the Narration
of the icon, and other written sources from the 14th
century onward®, and in icons since the 15th century.
Subsequently, this name was given not only to copies
of the miraculous icon, but also to practically all half-
length images of Our Lady of the Incarnation. Such a
wide use of the name “Our Lady of the Sign”* bespeaks

3 The name “Our Lady of the Sign”, traditionally given to Rus-
sian icons depicting the Virgin in a half-length orans type with
Christ in a medallion on her bosom, should be briefly explained
here. According to the legend, during the course of the siege of
Novgorod by Andrey Bogolubsky, the prince of Vladimir and Su-
zdal, in 1170, Elias, the archbishop of Novgorod, asked that the
icon of the Mother of God was brought and placed on the town
walls. During the battle, one of prince Andrey’s arrows struck the
icon and the Virgin turned her face to the Novgorod people — that
was interpreted as a sign (“Znamenie” in Russian) of the Mother
of God’s protection. This legend was recorded in the 14th century,
and the liturgical service for the feast of the icon of Our Lady of
the Sign was composed in the early 15th century.

3 0. V. Loseva, Russkie mesiatseslovy XI-XIV vekov (=Russian
Menologia of 11th-14th centuries) (in Russian), Moscow 2001,
109-110, 212.

3 The meaning of this concept in Christian culture is revealed
in John Chrysostom’s Homilies on Isaiah 7:14: “To yto onueiov
éxpaivery Ol v nowiv axolovBiav xal v THS PUOEWS
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the meaningfulness of this concept, which reflects both
the theological content of the iconography and the very
history of the venerated image, which revealed a miracle
or a “sign” in 1170.

The miraculous Novgorod icon “Our Lady of the Sign”
might have had a direct relation to the relics in the posses-
sion of the Blachernae church. According to I. A. Sterligo-
va, the icon, apart from its main function, was used also
as a reliquary for relics of the Holy Virgin —it might have
contained parts of her Blessed Robe and the Holy Girdle®”.
The presence of the Blachernae relics could explain the
earliest setting of the icon’s feast day in Russian liturgi-
cal practice, recorded in menologia in the first half of the
14th century, which included a rather short list of feasts
dedicated to Byzantine icons*®. Possibly, such a celebra-
tion held in honour of the icon on the 27th of November,
was not only a reminder of the miracle that happened in
1170, it also followed the liturgical tradition of the Blach-
ernae church, where the 2nd of July was set to commem-
orate the deposition there of the most venerable relic —the
Robe of the Most Holy Theotokos—, and the 31st of July
to commemorate the consecration of the church itself.

The icon in the collection of the State Tretyakov Gal-
lery is traditionally called “Our Lady of the Sign”, al-
though it might well have had a name of its own. This
assumption is confirmed by the position of the mono-
gram of the Mother of God (MP @Y) entirely in the left
circle on the gold ground. The inscription in the right

breoPaivery ouviBeLay xal EEvov elval nol mapddoEov, Gote Exna-
otov émonuaivesdol MY 60DVTOV Rol AROVEVIWY. ALl YiQ TOU-
TO %0l onueiov Aéyetat, S to émionuov. ‘Exionuov ¢ odx av
vévorto, €l uéLhot xpumteoat T xowvmvig TV GAAoV Tooyud-
twv.” Jean Chrysostome, Commentaire sur Isaie, introd., texte cri-
tique et notes par J. Dumontier (Sources chrétiennes 304), Paris
1983, 314, lines 55-59. “For a sign must come out of the usual
order of things, from the ordinary course of nature, to have some-
thing strange, be wondrous and extraordinary to be noticed by
everyone who sees and hears it. That is why it is called a sign,
because it signifies. But it would not signify, if it remained hidden
in the usual order of things” (English trans. by A. Tarlykova).

1. A. Sterligova, “Relics of the Dormition of the Virgin in Old
Russian art from the 12th tol4th century”, Eastern Christian rel-
ics, ed. A. M. Lidov, Moscow 2003, 555-556.

3 The Invention of the Miasinskaya icon of the Mother of God in
864 was commemorated on the st of September, the Translation of
the Holy Mandylion from Edessa to Constantinople on the 16th of
August, see Loseva, Russkie mesiatseslovy, op.cit. (n. 35), 143, 408.
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circle is lost, but it might have contained some epithet
of the Theotokos, very brief, since only a few letters fit
in the space of the medallion. Examples of such laconic
inscriptions are known on seals, where the full-length
image of Our Lady of the Sign is accompanied by the
word 1] ieod (i.e. holy, sacred), as on the seal of Cyril
Metropolitan of Kiev, dated to 1225-1233%. The right
medallion might have contained the Greek word ayia.

As mentioned above, the reverse side of the icon under
consideration represents St Juliana. This image is the
only example known in Russian art where St Juliana is
shown with a veil worn over her mantle, whereas from
the 13th century onwards this detail became widespread
in the iconography of other martyrs. Jewels on the robes
of St Juliana possibly point to her noble origin.

The Early Russian menologia mention feasts of St
Juliana of Heliopolis, who was martyred together with
the Great Martyr Barbara (their feasts are celebrated on
the same day —the 4th of December), and St Juliana of
Nicomedia, who was venerated in Kievan Rus —just like
the Great Martyr Marina was venerated in Byzantium
and in the West— for overcoming the devil who tempted
her in prison (her feast is celebrated on the 21st of De-
cember). The image of St Juliana on our icon might rep-
resent a sort of a generic character derived from the ven-
eration of several homonymous martyrs, each of whom
has an individual memorial feast in the Church calen-
dar, as it happened to the images of some other martyrs
bearing the same name, e.g., Paraskeva, Anastasia, etc.
In Russian art, the process of the personalization and
the elaboration of the iconographic particularities of
some female saints took place in the 16th century, due
to the spread of the Vita icons. Thus, for example, the
representations of St Anastasia the Pharmakolytria, St
Anastasia the Roman, and Venerable Martyr Anastasia
were individualized?.

The images of St Juliana and St Barbara were closely

¥ V. L. Janin — P. G. Gajdukov, Actovie petchati Drevnei Rusi
X-XI1 veka (=Act seals of Ancient Russia of the X-XII centuries),
Moscow 1998, no. 53.

4 Sviataya velikomuchenitsa Anastasia. Sviashchennyi obraz i
khramy v Evrope s VI po XXI vek (=Holy Great Martyr Anastasia.
Sacred image and churches in Europe from VI to XXI century),
ed. P. Chakhotin, Saint Petersburg 2010, nos 246-276, 159-190.
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intertwined: they were often portrayed together, for exam-
ple, in the church of the Saviour on Nereditsa*,, in a two-sid-
ed icon “St Martyr Juliana. St Great Martyr Barbara”, with
the image on the front side dating to the late 12th-early
13th century, and the one on the back to the 15th century,
in the Byzantine Museum of Kastoria®, and elsewhere.

The depiction of St Juliana on the icon here, as well
as in the fresco in the church of the Saviour on Neredit-
sa (1199), are among the earliest images of the saint in
Russian Medieval art.

The margins of both sides of the icon contain full- and
half-length figures of the saints. The holy woman in the
middle of the front side upper margin is labeled Alexan-
dra in the accompanying inscription. The Early Russian
menologia include only two feasts in honour of holy wom-
en named Alexandra: on the 21st of April in commemo-
ration of St Alexandra the Empress and on the 18th of
May in commemoration of the St Martyr Alexandra of
Ankyra, who was martyred with the Martyr Theodotus
and six virgin martyrs®. Judging by the absence of royal
regalia, we may assume that the icon depicts the Martyr
Alexandra of Ankyra. Her image in such a significant
place, as the center of the upper margin, suggests that she
might have been a patron saint of the donor who com-
missioned the icon. The inscription next to her is rather
unusual: the name on her left is followed by the word “ha-
gia” on her right and not vice versa. Such a disposition
can be observed on the seals with the images of the Great
Martyrs, which belonged to some Russian princes, e.g.,
to prince Mstislav the Great (1076-1132). On his seal, the
figure of St Theodore the Martyr, who was the prince’s
patron, is inscribed “@eonop Arunoc” (Theodor Hagios)*.

The margins of the reverse side are in better condition.
There are three pairs of full-length figures, but only the
inscriptions near the figures of St Barbara, St Timothy,
and St Nicholas are preserved. Nonetheless, we could make

4 Pivovarova, Freski tserkvi Spasa na Nereditse, op.cit. (n. 16),
144-145, figs 158, 159.

42 E. N. Tsigaridas, Eixdves to0 BuEavtivot Movoelov xal vadv
tiic Kaotopuag (120g-160¢ aidvag), Athens 2018, no. 9 on p.
78-82, figs 26-28.

43 Loseva, Russkie mesiatseslovy, op.cit. (n. 35), 322, 342.

4 Janin — Gajdukov, Actovie petchati Drevnei Rusi X-XII veka,
op.cit. (n. 39), no. 82a, 133.
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a suggestion about the other saints’ names. The upper pair
(inscriptions are lost) is identified as Sts Healers because
the objects in their hands bear a resemblance to small
medicine chests. Due to the damages of the paint layers
and the fact that the iconographic features are not explicit
enough, art historians have different views on the identifi-
cation of the saints supposed to be Sts Cyrus and John or
Sts Cosmas and Damian, as well as Sts Florus and Laurus®.
The pair in the middle is identified by the fragmen-
tary inscriptions as St Great Martyr Barbara to the left
(Fig. 4) and St Timothy the Apostle to the right. The
image of the great martyr wearing a dark-blue dress, a
red mantle with a decorative band around the neck and
a cloth cap covering her red hair, has some analogies in
Byzantine and Russian Medieval painting of the 12th —
early 13th century, such as in the 12th-century icon “St
Nicholas, the Venerable Sabbas and the Great Martyrs
Barbara and Irene”, from the Monastery of Saint Cath-
erine on Sinai‘®, in the mural paintings of the church of
Saint Nicholas tou Kasnitzi in Kastoria’, the church of
Saint George near Kurbinovo, of 1191*, the church of the
Saviour on Nereditsa, the Old Metropolitan Cathedral
of Veroia, etc. One of the earliest images of St Barbara
in Early Russian art can be seen on the liturgical chalice
made by the craftsman Bratila in around 1131-1134%,
The lower pair of figures are St Nicholas the Mira-
cle-Worker on the left and an unidentified saint on the
right (with no inscription). However, it is highly likely
that the Saint Archbishop of Myra is accompanied by

* For the identification of the saints as Sts Cyros and John, see An-
tonova, Drevnerusskoe iskusstvo, op.cit. (n. 2), 27; Drevnerusskoye
iskusstvo X —nachala XV vekov: Gosudarstvennaya Tretiakovska-
ya galerea (Katalog sobrania) (Early Russian painting of the 10th
to the early 15th century, State Tretyakov gallery (catalogue of the
collection) (in Russian), 1, Moscow 1995, 63; as Sts Cosmas and
Damian or Sts Florus and Laurus, see L. I. Lifshits — V. D. Sara-
bianov — T. Y. Tsarevskaya, Monumentalnaya zhivopis’ Velikogo
Novgoroda. Konets 11 — pervaja chetvert’ 12 veka (Wall-painting
of Novgorod the Great. Late 11th — first quarter of the 12th centu-
ry) (in Russian), Saint Petersburg 2004, 677 note 439.

4 Holy Image, op.cit. (n. 13), no. 54 on p. 262-263.

47 St. Pelekanidis, Kaotopia. Bvavtival toyoyoagiat, 1, Thes-
saloniki 1953, pl. 55b.

# C. Grozdanov — L. Hadermann-Misguich, Kurbinovo, Skopje
1992, pl. 28.

# Decorativno-prikladnoe iskusstvo Velikogo Novgoroda (catalo-
gue), Moscow 1996, no. 2 on p. 115-116.
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the St Hieromartyr Clement, Pope of Rome. As T. Tsa-
revskaya has observed, such paired images of the two
most revered saint bishops were quite common in Early
Rus™. St Clement, whose relics were kept in the Church
of the Tithes (Desyatinnaya tserkov’), was venerated
as one of the forerunners of Christianity in the Rus-
sian land. As early as 1147, the bishops of the Russian
Church, striving for independence from the Patriarch
of Constantinople, tried to appoint Klim Smolyatich as
Metropolitan, having blessed him with the head of St
Clement, on their own authority®.. Probably, both saints
were depicted on the margins of the back side of the ven-
erated Novgorod icon “Our Lady of the Sign. Saints Joa-
chim and Anna (?)” of 1130-1140 (the original figures
of these saints have not survived; they were repainted in
the 16th century)

The introduction of a large number of holy women
into the iconographic programme of the icon and the
presence of three female martyrs on the upper margin
of the front side, directly above the image of the Moth-
er of God, lead us to conclude that the theme of female
sanctity had a special significance in this programme.
The veneration of female saints-holy martyrs and vener-
able nuns, knowledge of their lives, including relatively
rare ones, are attested in many monuments of the 12th
century: liturgical chalices wrought by Bratila and Cos-
ta with the images of the Great Martyrs Anastasia and
Barbara, the revetment of the icon “Peter and Paul the
Apostles” with depictions of St Thekla Equal to the
Apostles and the Great Martyr Barbara®, the reverse of
the miraculous icon “Our Lady of the Sign” with the
images of the Sts Martyrs Catherine and Euphemia, and
the wall-paintings in the diakonikon of the church of the
Saviour on Nereditsa with twelve saints including dea-
conesses, nuns and tsarinas®. These images might have

0T, Y. Tsarevskaya, “Obraz sviatogo Klimenta Pimskogo v novgo-
rodskom iskusstve XIII veka” (The Image of St Clement of Rome
in Novgorodian art of the 13th Century) (in Russian, abstracts in
English), Drevnerusskoe iskusstvo, Moscow 1999, 260-273.

1 «Ipat’evsaja letopis™, Polnoe sobranie russkikh letopisej, 2,
Moscow 1998, 341.

52 Jconi Velikogo Novgoroda, op.cit. (n. 6), no. 3 on p. 89-99.

53 Decorativno-prikladnoe iskusstvo, op.cit. (n. 49), no. 56 on p.
236-242.

3 N. V. Pivovarova, “K istolkovaniyu programmy rospisi diakonika
tserkvi Spasa na na Nereditse” (On the interpretation of the wall-
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been consistent with the theme of the resurrection of the
dead at the Last Judgement, where the holy women, like
the wise virgins with lamps from the Gospel parable, ap-
peared on the right hand of Christ (Matthew 25:1-13).

Conclusion

The concept of the iconographic programme of the two-
sided icon of the Theotokos with the Martyr Juliana on
the reverse has multiple meanings. The main theme —the
visual expression of the doctrine of the Divine Incar-
nation— acquired an additional triumphal meaning, as
the very coming of Christ into the world was believed to
bring victory over death. This meaning could be further
enhanced by the presence of the Martyr Juliana, who
defeated the devil, particularly as her feast day is cele-
brated just before Christmas. However, we should admit
that the choice of saints might have depended on the will
of the donor who ordered the church’s construction, or
of the patron who commissioned the icon: the martyr de-
picted on the back of the icon might have been a patron
saint. The combination of the images of Our Lady of the
Incarnation and the Martyr Juliana is a unique example
of an individual iconographic programme, despite the
prevalence of two-sided icons in Byzantine and Early
Russian art.

One of the surviving icons of this type is the mirac-
ulous Feodorovskaya Icon of the Mother of God (13th
century), with the image of the Theotokos on the front
and an unnamed woman martyr on the back; the female
saint cannot be identified for want of inscriptions and
specific iconographic attributes™.

It is logical to assume that the two-sided icon with
the iconographic programme replete with images of
holy women was intended for a convent. Since we have

painting programme of the diakonikon of the Saviour church on
Nereditsa) (in Russian, abstracts in French), Drevnerusskoe iskus-
stvo, Moscow 1999, 216-224.

3 E. S. Smirnova, Iconi Severo-Vostochnoj Rusi. Rostov, Viadi-
mir, Kostroma, Murom, Ryazan’, Moskva, Vologodskij kraj, Dvina.
Seredina XIII — seredina XIV veka (Icons of Northeastern Rus’.
Rostov, Vladimir, Kostroma, Murom, Ryazan, Moscow, Vologda
Region, Dvina. Mid-Thirteenth to Mid-Fourteenth Century), Mos-
cow 2004, no. 1 on p. 179-186.
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no reliable information about the origin of the icon, we
may suppose that it came to Zverin Convent later. It was
possibly was painted for a church with a side-altar ded-
icated to St Juliana. Such a side-altar was constructed
in the Convent of Saint Barbara (Varvarinsky Convent).
This convent is mentioned repeatedly in the Novgorod
Chronicles in connection with various political events
since the 12th century®. In the so-called Pilgrim’s
Book?*’, Archbishop Anthony (whose secular name was
Dobrynya Yadreykovich) wrote about his pilgrimage to
Constantinople just before the city’s Sack by the Crusad-
ers in 1204 and described numerous sacred objects in
the Byzantine capital.

It is highly likely that it was Archbishop Anthony
who contributed significantly to the development of the
iconographic programme of the icon now in the Tretya-
kov Gallery collections, which has so much in common
with Constantinopolitan sacred objects. The saint arch-
bishop, who repeatedly prayed in the Blachernae church
and had profound knowledge of its relics, might have
brought a copy of a venerated image from this church
to Novgorod, to serve as a model for the icon discussed
here. Like the main Novgorod icon, the specified im-
age may have been designed for use as a reliquary for
holy relics of the saints depicted on the icon’s margins
(we may assume that the circle, traces of which are pre-
served between the figures of the saints, were intended
to mark the places for keeping the relics). The image of
the Mother of God on the front was certainly inspired by
a Byzantine model and reproduces its composition and
proportions. This model could have been an icon, a piece
of small statuary, or a pilgrim relic that was associated
with the Blachernae church.

% The chronicles contain information about the appointment of
abbesses and the laying of the foundation stone of the convent’s
church by Archbishop Anthony in 1218. The stone church built
by the archbishop replaced the former wooden building. “Novgo-
rodskaya pervaya letopis’ starshego i mladshego izvodov”, Polnoe
sobranie russkih letopisej, 3, Moscow 2000, 57.

57 Jouravel, Die Kniga palomnik, op.cit (n. 5).

Illustration credits

Figs 1, 2-7, 11: © Moscow, The State Tretyakov Gallery. Fig. 9: N. Piv-
ovarova, Freski tserkvi Spasa na Nereditse v Novgorode: iconografi-
cheskaya programma rospisi, Saint-Petersburg 2002, pl. 199 on p.
227 (photo by L. A. Matsulevich). Figs 8, 10: Author’s archives.
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AMO®ITPAIITH EIKONA AIIO TO NOBI'KOPONT ME THN «ITANAITA
TOY ZHMEIOY KAI THN ATTA IOYAIANH» TOY ITPQTOY TPITOY
TOY 130y AIQNA: OVEIZ TOY EIKONOI'PA®IKOY I[TPOTPAMMATOX

2 ™ ovArhoyn g ITivaxroOnxng Toetiaxndy vdayeL
uto apglyoamtn ewrova ue v «Iavayia Tov Znueiov
%o Ty ayio IovAtavi», Ty omoio dwPLoe 0To LOVOE(D
0 ralhtéyvne Pavel Korin, pall ue t ovAloyn einévov
tov. O Korin gixe ayopdogl ovTiv TV €LrOVO 0td TOV
dtaonuo otoprd t€yvng Alexander Anisimov, o ooiog
@épetal Tl TV améxtnoe amd ™ wovy ZpEpwy oto NOp-
YROQOVT.

v ®ioLor 0PN TS Ewmdvag ewoviletal enavm oe
X006 Baboc 1 ITavayio deduevn ue to Belo Boépog oe
uetdAhio (Ew. 1). Sougpova ue tnv taoddoon, n etréva
amoxaieltal «H IMavayio tov Inueiov», av ®ot aQyt-
%G uwopel va elye Oxd g BeotormwvUno. Avty 1 VITo-
Beon emiPefardvetal amd ™ BE0M TOV CUUTIARUOATOC
e Mavayiag (MP @Y) nov foloretat ohéxAngo ndvm
o€ ¥ovoo PdBog oto apLoteEd uetdiiio. H emypapn
010 0eEL6 uetdAho dev odletal, alhd (owg meQLelye
1ATOLO EMLOETIRG TEOOILOQLOUS TS OEOTOXROV, OALYO-
oUAMOPO, ®ABDS 0 YOS eVTAS Tov uetahhiov emaprel
uovo yua Aiyo yodupota. 2to dvm meolfdoLlo g ®i-
oLaLg OYNS NG ELXOVAGS ELROVITOVTOL TOELS NUIOWUES Y-
vaxeles nop@éc ayimv. 2to deEl mepBwolo owlovtal
300 oAGomuUES HOQYPES —EVOS 1EQAEYMS KOl EVOS VEUQOC
OTEATIMTIXROS 1 0EYOVTHOS Gyloc. H xevtown nooen
elva n pdoptvoac ayio AleEdvdpa (Euwt. 2).

v wiow oY ewxovitetan n udptveag ayio Iovhia-
V1] LE TOV 0TOVEE TOV 1A TVEOS 0To SeEl TN Yot (Ex. 3).
ExatéomBev tng nooeng g folorovtal petdAlia te
AEEN «MdpTug», 0T0. 0ELOTEQRd TNG, *aiL To dvoua «Ulea-
na», ota 0e€Ld Tne. O emLyQapéc ®ATw amd To peTdAlia
dwapdlovtar wg «Mdaptug XpLotov» ot «Ayia» avti-
otouya. AvTti M erdva eival 1o Hovadrd YVmoTo ToQd-
deryuo ot QWOLXY TEYXVY, 0TO 000 POREL TETAO TAV®
amd tov pavdva g, evad and tov 130 atdvo ot eEfg
avti N Aemtouépela ®abLleQwnxre TNV ExovoyQUpia
TV LoQTUQWYV. 210 TEQLOMOLA, TOV aQYXd NTAV AEV-
%4, Polorovtal toio Cevyn oAdowumy noepwy. O dvo
eNAVM AYLoL TOUTICOVTAL OUVHOME UE TOVS LOUATIROUS
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Kvpo »at Imdvyn. Ou d¥o revipuotl dylotl tavtiCovral,
YGON OTLS ATTOOTOOUOTIXG OWLECUEVES ETLYQOPES, UE TNV
ayio peyoroudotvoa Bapfdoa (Ew. 4, 5), ota aolote-
04, nat ue Tov andotoho Tywd0eo, ota deEld. O vdTm
0v0 nopeés eivarl o ayrog Nixdhaog o Bavuotovyos,
OTO GPLOTEQA, %ol €vag aTavTIOTOS AYlog, 0To OEELd.
OL g0y oTNOLAXES aVOAVOELS OTEMEQY STL ®OL oL
V0 GYPeLS TG EWBVOGS, CVWITEQLAAUPBAVOUEVOV TWY LOQ-
POV TOV aylov, eival oUyyxooves ot eival €QYo Tou
{010V RAMALTEY VY, ALV ROLL 1) XATAOTAON TNG ELROVOS OVEL
Liyo Swagopetind] evtimwon (Ew. 6, 7). Svyrerowéva,
ot nop@éc e Iavayiag xot g ayiog Iovhavig €xovv
aodo0el ue ™ xoNoN TV OLWY VAROY Rl TEYVIXNC.
Ou wotopurotl e Pulavivic T€xvng oyeddv oudpmva
oVVOEOUV TNV EOVOYQUQio. TNS ErOvag Tov NOByxo-
Q0VT U erdves Tov vaov g Havayiog twv Bhayeovdv
omv Kovotavtivovmoln, aAld dev oupngpmvoUy g mog
T0 TEATLITO 1 T TEATVTTA TS Acufdvovtog vToym oTL
tétoleg amewovioes ™ [avayiag oe voulouota ot
opEayideg ovyvd ouvodevovtay amd To BEOTORMVIULO
«Emloneyio», ndmolot epevvntég Bempotv STl pior youévn
ONUEQD. EXOVE. UE QLVTO TO OVOUC, WITOQEL VO ¥ONOIUEVOE
¢ TEATLVTTO. ZUUPWVa. Ue Pt GAAN ExdOYN, 1 VEO ELOVO-
yooia dev duapoepddnxre mow and ta uéoa tov 1lov
Vo %ot PooloTNRE OF CUYRERQUEVES AOUTOEVTIXES EL-
®xoveg e IHovaylog twv Blayeovdv: €vo uaoudoivo
ovay Qo pe moedotaor deduevns @eoTéx®ov, TOV EQEQE
eLOWES 0TS OTIC TTAAGUES VIO TO OYLALOUEVO VEQO TNg Bav-
UWOLTOVEYNS TNYNG, ROLL Lol TTOACLLG E1rOVE, TG Oe0TdnOoV
Nwxomolov, n oroia feédnxe otig Bhayéoves to 1030/31. O
ELROVOYQUPIXOS TUTTOG TTOV TTEQLYQAPETAL, E(VAL YVOOTOS
ot Bphoyoapic ue didpopa oviuata: «Bhayeovitio-
oa», «@eotérog Meydin Ilavayio», «[Tavayio tov Zn-
ueiov», «[avayio g Evodorwong. Ot omowés etroveg
ue v nuionun Beegpoxrpatoioa ovoudomray «Oeoto-
%0G TOV ZNUeiov», Gvoua To 000 ®Aneovounoay amrd
Aatpevtiri etndva tov NOByropovt. Avotuydg, dev yvm-
oiCovue TV a1 Ovouaoio TS EROVOS TTOV TRON®E

257



ELENA SAENKOVA

oto NoByrogovt, yipw oto 1170, »atd t didounela Thg
TOAEULKNG OVYRQOVONC UE TO ZOVLVTaA, ®OL EUELVE YV~
0T 0TV 10ToRI0 WS «@E0TAXOC TOV ZNUeElOV».

H ovvBeomn tov elovoyeapLroy mooyQaUIaTtos TS
augiyoamtng ewovag ue v Iavaylo xar v ayia
Tovhiavi €xer morhamthd mepleyduevo. To nipLo Béua
—1 erraoTry arodoon tov déyuatog g Evodoxrmong—
mpoohaufaver nat BoloauPevtind meQLEYOUEVO, RAODC
n 0w  "Ehevon tov XpLotoU otov ®xG0oUo €geQE TOV
Bolaupo exi Tov BavdTov. AVt To VoMU EVIoYUETOL
ue v mopovoio g ayiog IovAlavig, 1 omoia viun-
og tov d1apolro, edind agov M uviun g €opTdleTal
arodg oLy amd to Xplotovyevva. Qotdéoo, Ba meé-
mEL VO TQOOEYTOVUE OTL 1] EMLAOYY TV OylwV (0mg
EMNOEAOTNUE QN0 TIS EMIOVIIES TOV XTHTOQA TOV NTAV
VEeVBUVOC YL TV (dQUoN TOV Voo 1| TOU dWENTH TOU
TAENYYEWLE TNV ewdva: 1 WAQTVEOS OTNY TloW OYn
{owg NTav n wpootdtda ayia tov. O cVVOIVAOUOS TOV
napaotdoewy g [avayiog tg Evodormong xot tng
ayiag Ioviavig amotelel povadird mapdderyno evog
WOL{TEQOY  ELROVOYQAPIXOY  TEOYQAUUATOS UETAED
TV TOAMDY OU@IYQATTOMV EOVOV TOV RATOYQAPO-
vral oty fulavTivy ®aol TNV TOOWN QWOLXY TEYVT.

Eilval hoywrd va vroBéoovue tL 1 augiyoomwtn €i-
nOVOL UE TIC TOAAES LOQYES aylwV YUVOLR®Y TOOOQL-
Lotav yua yuvaureio povaotiotl. Kabag dev vrtdoyovv
aE0TIoTEC TANEOPOQIES OYETIRA UE TNV TEOEAEVOT TNG
€movag, urogovue va Bempioovue 6Tl EQTAoE 0T UOVY|
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ZBéowv apyotega. IMiBavag guhotexvnOnre yuo €vav
vad mov O1€0ete €vo TAQATAEVQO LEQD, APLEQMUEVO
otV ayia TovAtavi. ‘Eva 1€tolo mopennMot-tepd »ti-
otxe ot novi g Ayiog BagBdoag. Avti nuovi ava-
pépetoL emavellnuuéva ota Xpovird tov Nofyropovt,
oe oéon ue dudopa molttirnd yeyovota, amd tov 120
awva. Zto Aeyouevo «Biiio tov ITpoonvvnti» 0 -
YLET{O®OTOC AVIHVIOC (TOV 0700V TO ROOULRS Gvoua
ftav Dobryna Yadreykovich) éypaye yio to ta&idL Tov
otv Kovotaviwvoumoln mow arxd v AAmon g arnd
TOVS ZTOVEOoPoEovs, 10 1204, 010 0molo TEQLEYQUE
TOALG 100 avTikelneva ot fulavivy TeowTevoVOd.

Eivau eEapetind mbavs o apylenionomog AvVtdviog
VoL TV EXEIVOS TTOV OUVERAAE ALTTOPAOLOTIRG 0T OVV-
Beom TOv €LrOVOYEUPLXOV TEOYQAUUOTOS TNG ELROVALC,
1 omotla €xel 6o TOALMG nowvd pe €oya amd v Kwv-
ot vTvoUToAN. O GYL0G 0LOYLETIOROTOS, O OTTOLOC EMAL-
velinuuéva mpooevynonxe oty [avayio twv Blayeo-
VOV ®not yvopLe mold xald to 1epd Ae(pava tng, Ba
uroQovoe vo elxe @épel nall Tov €va aviiypago tng
AatoevTtnig ewmovag omd Tic Bhayéoves oto NOfyro-
QOVT, TOOXEWEVOV VO YONOWOTOLNOEl WS TEATUVTO YIO
TNV EROVA TTOV TO.QOVOLATOUE EQM.

Ap Iotopixog tns Téxyvng
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